IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC06-2505

FLORIDIANS FOR A LEVEL PLAYING FIELD, ET AL.,

Petitioner,

VS.

FLORIDIANS AGAINST EXPANDED GAMBLING, THE HUMANE SOCIETY OF THE UNITED STATES, and GREY2K USA, INC.,

Respondents.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

WILBUR E. BREWTON TANA D. STOREY ROETZEL & ANDRESS, LPA 225 South Adams Street, Suite 250 Tallahassee, FL 32301

THOMAS R. JULIN JAMIE Z. ISANI HUNTON & WILLIAMS LLP 1111 Brickell Avenue, Suite 2500 Miami, FL 33131 BRUCE S. ROGOW CYNTHIA E. GUNTHER BRUCE S. ROGOW, P.A. Broward Financial Centre, Suite 1930 500 East Broward Blvd. Fort Lauderdale, FL 33394

JOHN M. HOGAN Holland & Knight, LLP Post Office Box 015441 Miami, FL 33101

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. THE DECISION BELOW

On March 27, 2007 the Court accepted jurisdiction to review these two certified questions of great public importance from the First District Court of Appeal:

- I. WHETHER VALIDATIONS OF SIGNATURES BY SUPERVISORS OF ELECTIONS CAN BE CHALLENGED BASED UPON **ALLEGATIONS** OF FRAUD AFTER CERTIFICATIONS OF SIGNATURES HAVE BEEN ACCEPTED BY THE SECRETARY OF STATE AND THE **BALLOT PRINTED** AND ABSENTEE VOTING COMMENCED IN ACCORD WITH FLORIDA LAW?
- II. WHETHER AN AMENDMENT TO THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION THAT IS VOTE APPROVED BYOF ELECTORS MAY BE SUBSEQUENTLY INVALIDATED IF, IN AN ACTION FILED BEFORE THE ELECTION, THERE IS A SHOWING MADE AFTER THE ELECTION **THAT NECESSARY** SIGNATURES ON THE **PETITION** PROPOSING THE AMENDMENT WERE FRAUDULENTLY OBTAINED?

Appendix at 16-17.

The en banc decision below assumed that the complaint's allegations of

fraud in petition initiative signature gathering were true, and held that an election approving the initiative did not cure fraud in the pre-election process. The majority primarily relied upon Armstrong v. Harris, 773 So. 2d 7, 20 (Fla. 2000), quoting this sentence "Deception of the voting public is intolerable and should not be countenanced." Appendix at 15 (emphasis in original). The en banc dissenters viewed Armstrong as inapposite because the deception there was in the ballot question actually presented to the voters; it was not pre-election deceit. The dissenters pointed to Armstrong's focus on the question actually presented to the voters: "When a defect goes to the very heart of the amendment, as it did in both Wadhams [v. Board of County Commissioners, 567 So. 2d 414 (Fla. 1990)] and the present case [Armstrong], it is impossible to say with any certainty what the vote of the electorate would have been 'if the voting public had been given the whole truth." Appendix at 25 (quoting Armstrong quoting Wadhams)(emphasis supplied). Simply put, the First District was split on the meaning of Armstrong, i.e., the consequences of deception in the actual ballot question presented to the voters as compared to deception in obtaining access to the ballot.

In addition, the *en banc* majority below believed that the fact that the lawsuit alleging fraud in the signature gathering process was filed before the election (the initial complaint was filed 35 days before the election; the amended complaint was

filed 19 days before (R1-1-33, 71-104)), added credence to its view that the subsequent voter approval could not cure fraud in the pre-election process.

Against that background we turn to the allegations of the complaint and the trial court summary judgment which led to the decision below.

B. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROCEEDINGS

On July 23, 2004, the Secretary of State certified that the Supervisors of Elections had determined that petitions favoring the initiative contained the requisite number of valid signatures requiring placement of the initiative on the November 2, 2004 ballot as Amendment 4. R3-416.

More than two months later, on September 28, 2004, Floridians Against Expanded Gambling, the Humane Society of the United States and Grey2K USA, Inc. sued Floridians for a Level Playing Field ("FLPF"), the Secretary of State, and numerous Supervisors of Elections alleging generally that the petition process was fraught with fraud and that the petitions included the signatures of unregistered voters, fictitious persons and deceased persons. R1-1-33. FLPF is a political committee formed pursuant to Florida Statutes and was the sponsor of the initiative to amend the Florida Constitution entitled "Authorizes Miami-Dade and Broward County voters to approve Slot Machines in Parimutuel Facility." R1-5.

On September 30, 2004, the Plaintiffs filed a "Motion for Case Management

Conference." A week later, on October 8, 2004, they filed a "Motion for Emergency Expedited Hearing and *Permanent* Injunction." R1-48-57 (emphasis added). The Plaintiffs filed no motion for a temporary injunction. The trial court set a hearing for October 11, 2004.

After the hearing was held, the Plaintiffs amended their complaint on October 14, 2004, to set forth new allegations. R1-71-104. The amended complaint claimed that a statistical analysis of the database of names and addresses of voters who signed the petitions showed a statistically significant failure rate. R1-96. In addition, they alleged that a telephone survey of 5,278 persons whose names appeared on petitions showed that 68% said that they had not signed any petition for the initiative. R1-85-86.

The amended complaint also alleged that ARNO Political Consultants, which had been hired to gather signatures for the initiative, had been accused of signature gathering improprieties in relation to Amendment 6, the bullet train repeal amendment, and that ARNO employees were alleged to have copied signatures from the minimum wage petitions onto other initiative petitions. R1-87-89.

The amended complaint also complained of missing names and addresses of petition circulators. R1-93. The District Court of Appeal affirmed the summary judgment against the Plaintiffs on that portion of the case and that is sue is now resolved and not part of this case. Appendix at 3.

At the October 11, 2004 hearing the trial court, after extended argument, denied the motion for a permanent injunction against placing the amendment on the ballot citing due process as preventing a final determination of the merits of the complex allegations contained in the complaint. The trial court also noted that the Plaintiffs' motion alternatively had requested a post-election declaration of invalidity. The trial court commented on this request: "It seems to me from the very motion itself the Plaintiffs have the knowledge that its not absolutely essential that we have a full hearing on this matter before the election." R2-33. The trial court then entered a written Order on October 19, 2004 declining to expedite consideration of the request for a permanent injunction. R1-108. Plaintiffs sought no review of that order and they made no further attempt to obtain an injunction against placing the proposed amendment on the ballot.

After passage of the initiative on November 2, 2004, the supervisors of elections were dismissed as defendants. R2-346-348. The Plaintiffs did not appeal the dismissal.

FLPF moved for final summary judgment after the election asserting that the election had cured any of the alleged deficiencies in the procedures which led up to placement of the amendment on the ballot. The motion alleged that even if the allegations of fraud in the signature gathering process could be proven, such proof

could not invalidate a constitutional amendment that had been approved by a vote of the people. In January 2005, the trial court granted FLPF's motion finding that any fraud in the petition process "was cured by the election." R3-415-420.

C. THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL PROCEEDINGS

The Plaintiffs appealed to the First District Court of Appeal. A panel of that court reversed, concluding that the election-cure doctrine does not apply to claims of fraud filed prior to the election even though the claims could not be adjudicated until after the election. FLPF's Motion for Rehearing, Rehearing En Banc, and/or Motion for Certification was granted. The *en banc* majority hewed to the panel's view, but the court certified the two questions that FLPF had presented as questions of great public importance, stating those questions exactly as FLPF had presented them:

A. WHETHER VALIDATIONS OF SIGNATURES BY SUPERVISORS OF ELECTIONS CAN BE CHALLENGED BASED UPON **ALLEGATIONS** OF FRAUD AFTER CERTIFICATIONS OF SIGNATURES HAVE BEEN ACCEPTED BY THE SECRETARY OF STATE AND **PRINTED BALLOT** AND ABSENTEE VOTING COMMENCED IN ACCORD WITH FLORIDA LAW?

В. WHETHER AN AMENDMENT TO THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION THAT IS APPROVED BY**VOTE** OF THE ELECTORS MAY BE SUBSEQUENTLY INVALIDATED IF, IN AN ACTION FILED BEFORE THE ELECTION, THERE IS A SHOWING MADE AFTER THE ELECTION **THAT** NECESSARY SIGNATURES ON THE **PETITION** PROPOSING THE AMENDMENT WERE FRAUDULENTLY OBTAINED?

The answers to both questions should be "NO."

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Florida law is that "the popular voice is the paramount act, and that mere formal or procedural irregularities in the framing, manner or form of submission or balloting, will not be held fatal to the validity of such amendment after it has been actually agreed to." *State ex rel Landis v. Thompson*, 163 So. 270, 276 (Fla. 1935). In other words, the voice of the people cures pre-election defects. That principle applies to this case – even with its allegations of fraud in the signature gathering process – because the ballot question was clear and not deceptive or misleading and if there were problems at the signature gathering stage, the post-election remedy is to prosecute those who may have violated election laws, not to disturb the electoral outcome.

Armstrong v. Harris, 773 So. 2d 7 (Fla. 2000) does not support the decision below. Armstrong addressed a ballot question that deceived voters by not disclosing that the proposed constitutional amendment eliminated the Florida constitutional prohibition against cruel or unusual punishment. Armstrong did not address alleged defects in the process leading to ballot placement. The distinction – between defects that go "to the very heart of the amendment" (Armstrong at 773 So. 2d 21) and defects that precede ballot placement – is critical. The former cannot be cured by the election because the electorate has been fooled. The latter can be cured by the election because the electorate has not been misled as to the question presented and other remedies exist to punish any pre-election misconduct.

Nor does *Armstrong's* comment regarding the timing of when a challenge is raised alter our argument. Here, the complaint alleging fraud was filed shortly before the election and an expedited trial was denied, but the plaintiffs neither sought expedited review of that denial nor made any attempt to obtain appellate review of that decision or a pre-election resolution of the claims they presented. Therefore, even if a pre-election challenge affects the "election cure" equation, the Plaintiffs' tardy initiation of a lawsuit and failure to fully pursue a pre-election decision requires that this case be judged by the *Landis* principle. The decision below should be reversed with directions to dismiss the complaint.

ARGUMENT

BECAUSE THE BALLOT QUESTION
WAS APPROVED BY THIS COURT,
WAS CLEAR AND UNAMBIGUOUS,
WAS APPROVED BY THE VOTERS,
AND THE CHALLENGE TO THE
SIGNATURE GATHERING PROCESS
WAS TARDY AND ABSENTEE
VOTING HAD BEGUN, THE
ELECTION RESULTS CANNOT BE
INVALIDATED

Two concepts are at the heart of the *en banc* decision below. One is that the "election-cure" principle does not apply where there has been a pre-election challenge to the ballot placement process. *See* Appendix at 8 ("NO CURE BECAUSE LEGAL CHALLENGE PRIOR TO ELECTION"). The second is the District Court's view that there is "NO CURE FOR SIGNIFICANT FRAUD." Appendix at 11. Neither concept supports the decision below.

A. THE GOVERNING LEGAL PRINCIPLES

A constitutional amendment, approved by the people, is entitled to extraordinary deference. In *Askew v. Firestone*, 421 So. 2d 151, 156 (Fla. 1982) the Court wrote that it "must act with extreme care, caution, and restraint before it removes a constitutional amendment from the vote of the people." Here, where the

people have voted and approved a constitutional amendment, the deference and restraint are nearly ironclad. An approved constitutional amendment could be invalidated where the ballot questions misled the voters. Armstrong v. Harris, 773 So. 2d 7, 19 (Fla. 2000) ("when a defect goes to the very heart of the amendment. ..., it is impossible to say with any certainty what the vote of the electorate would have been if the voting public had been given the whole truth.") (emphasis supplied). A state constitutional amendment could also be invalidated if it violated the United States Constitution. Romer v. Evans, 517 U.S. 620, 116 S.Ct. 1620, 134 L.Ed 2d 855 (1996). But where, as here, this Court approved the ballot title and summary of the proposed constitutional amendment and the voters approved adoption of the amendment, there can be no argument that the amendment is infirm or that voters were misled. See Advisory Opinion to Att'y Gen. Re: Authorizes Miami-Dade and Broward County Voters to Approve Slot Machines in Parimutuel Facilities, 880 So. 2d 522, 524 (Fla. 2004) ("For the reasons stated, we hold that the initiative petition and proposed ballot title and summary meet the requirements of Article XI, section 3 of the Florida Constitution, and section 101.161(1) Florida Statutes (2003). Accordingly, we approve the amendment for placement on the ballot").

1. The Pre-election Challenge Does Not Trump the "Election Cure" Doctrine

The *en banc* majority erred in holding that "since the [assumed] defect was challenged before the election, it could not be cured by the election." Appendix at 11. The cases relied upon, *Pearson v. Taylor*, 32 So. 2d 826 (Fla. 1947), which cites *State ex rel. Landis v. Thompson*, 120 Fla. 860, 163 So. 270 (Fla. 1935); *Sylvester v. Tindall*, 154 Fla. 663, 18 So. 2d 892 (Fla.1944); *West v. State of Florida*, 50 Fla. 154, 39 So. 412 (Fla. 1905); *Crawford v. Gilchrist*, 64 Fla. 41, 59 So. 963 (Fla. 1912) do not, on the facts of this case, carry the weight assigned to them by the *en banc* majority.

Landis is the leading case and it unanimously applied the vox populi vox Dei principle even though there had been a pre-election suit and the plaintiffs had attacked the placement of the proposed constitutional amendment on the theory that procedures governing placement of the amendment on the ballot had been violated. Harkening back to the West v. State, 50 Fla. 154, 39 So. 412, 414 (Fla. 1905) holding that "the popular voice is the paramount act" even if there were defects in the amendment process, the Court wrote:

In upholding the ratified amendment as against the attack so made upon it, this Court in the *West* case, supra, definitely and conclusively aligned itself with the doctrine of a majority of the American courts that in

ruling upon the validity of constitutional changes after the popular voice has been expressed in favorable voting upon such changes proposed in the form of constitutional amendments agreed to by the Legislature, the popular voice is the paramount act, and that mere formal or procedural irregularities in the framing, manner, or form of submission or balloting, will not be held fatal to the validity of such amendment after it has been actually agreed to by three-fifth vote of all the members elected to each House, and such amendment thereafter duly published submitted to and affirmatively approved by the majority vote of the electors cast thereon.

Landis, 163 So. at 276.

In *Landis*, a taxpayer challenged a proposed amendment *before* the amendment was submitted to the voters, and the trial court refused a temporary injunction. The taxpayer immediately appealed to this Court urging the Court to review the matter. The Court obliged, but affirmed the denial of the temporary injunction and the election proceeded. *Collier v. Gray*, 157 So. 2d 40, 46. After passage of the amendment, the Court reaffirmed the principle that violations of constitutional procedures regulating the amendment process could not be used to invalidate a vote of the people. *Landis*, 163 So. at 277. The Court rejected the claim that it could consider allegations of procedural irregularity after the election,

explaining, that it "is immaterial in the light of the accepted rule that the popular voice is the paramount act where the proposed amendment was. . . ratified by a majority of the electors voting thereon." *Id*.

Landis confirms that even if a lawsuit challenging the procedures by which an amendment is placed on the ballot is filed *prior* to an election, the challenge can be mooted by the election. *Pearson v. Taylor*, 32 So. 2d 826 (Fla. 1947), did not change this rule. It reaffirmed it, citing *West, Crawford* and *Landis*, reminding all that "[M]ore than once we have said in substance, the defect [in proposing an amendment] was cured by the election itself." *Id.* at 827.

Some of the cases note the absence of pre-election challenges. *See Sylvester v. Tindall*, 18 So. 2d 892, 895 ("once an amendment is duly proposed and is actually published and submitted to a vote of the people and by them adopted without any question having been raised prior to the election as to the method by which the amendment gets before them, the effect of a favorable vote by the people is to cure defects in the form of the submission"); *Armstrong v. Harris*, 773 So. 2d at 18-19 (quoting *Sylvester*); *Pearson v. Taylor*, 32 So. 2d 826, 827 (Fla. 1947) ("more than once we have said, in substance, that the neglect to follow such procedure was fatal if raised before the election, yet the defect was cured by the election itself"). But none of these decisions hold that when a pre-election challenge

to compliance with procedures for placing an amendment on the ballot is filed, but not determined before the election, that the election will *not* moot such a challenge.

Constitutional requirements for a minimum number of valid, geographically – disbursed signatures serve to protect the state from the expense of conducting an election where there is little or no likelihood that a proposed amendment will be approved, *See Collier*, 157 So. at 41 ("the expense to be saved [is what] justifies the taxpayer in seeking an injunction"). After the election has been held, not only has the voice of the people been heard, but no expense can be saved. The compliance or non-compliance with procedures for placing the matter on the ballot no longer has any legal significance.

In the instant case, the Secretary of State had certified on July 23, 2004 that FLPF had obtained the required number of valid signatures and the required distribution of valid signatures under Article XI, section 3 of the Florida Constitution and issued a certificate of ballot position for the Initiative as Amendment 4. The initial complaint was not filed until September 28, 2004 and the amended complaint on October 14, 2004, 83 days after the Initiative had secured its place on the ballot.

The ballots had been printed and the absentee voting process already had begun pursuant to section 101.62(4)(a), Florida Statutes (2004) (requiring absentee

ballots to be mailed by September 18, 2004, 45 days prior to the general election), at the time that the suit was filed. R1-48-57. Thus, it was too late even at the time that the initial complaint was filed for the suit to avoid the expense associated with the election process.

The Plaintiffs did not seek a temporary injunction to enjoin the upcoming election as to Amendment 4. They did file a "Motion for Case Management Conference" on September 30, 2004 (R1-39-43) and a "Motion for Emergency Expedited Hearing and Permanent Injunction" on October 8, 2004 (R1-48-57), and on October 11, 2004, the trial judge conducted a hearing among the lawyers and after extended arguments, announced:

I am going to though deny the motion for emergency expedited hearing. I mean, this is obviously a complex case with serious issues now including the issues of fraud. And seeing that to rush this case to a final hearing without giving the Defendants the opportunity to engage in meaningful discovery would be a denial of due process.

I mean, an unnecessary rush to judgment wouldn't give the Court a chance to fully consider the issues, wouldn't give the attorneys sufficient opportunity to fully develop the issue, and a rush to judgment is not necessary in this case, especially in light of the request in the motion for case management conference that the plaintiffs seek declaratory injunctive relief striking the

initiative to amend the Florida constitution, preferably hearing this matter before the general election in November of 2004, or as the motion states, in the event the November 2004 general election has already taken place to declare the election for such initiative null and void and to further order the ballot not be counted.

It seems to me from the very motion itself the Plaintiffs have the knowledge that it's not absolutely essential that we have a full hearing on this matter before the election.

So rather than rushing to judgment and possibly inviting error and perhaps violating the Defendants' due process rights, I am going to deny the motion for expedited hearing.

R2- 32-33. A week later, on October 19, 2004, the court entered its "Initial Case Management Order" echoing its oral pronouncement. R2-108.

Not only did the Plaintiffs wait for over two months after the Secretary of State's certification to begin their suit, they made no effort in the trial court to secure a temporary injunction; took no action to seek expedited review of the trial court's October 11 denial of their "Motion for Emergency Hearing and Permanent Injunction;" took no action to seek review of the trial court's October 19 Order, and thus acceded to the post-election process as a remedy for their claim.

Compare Collier v. Gray, supra, in which the challenger acted promptly and

persistently in seeking relief in this Court:

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