IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO.: SC06-2505

FLORIDIANS FOR A LEVEL PLAYING FIELD, et. al.,

Petitioners,

vs.

FLORIDIANS AGAINST EXPANDED GAMBLING, THE HUMANE SOCIETY OF THE UNITED STATES, GREY2K USA, INC., KURT S. BROWNING, in his official capacity as Secretary of State, and the FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF STATE,

Respondents.

On Discretionary Review from a Decision of the First District Court of Appeal

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS SECRETARY OF STATE KURT S. BROWNING AND FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF STATE

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should not pass upon the certified questions and, instead, should dismiss this action as improvidently granted. No compelling reason exists for this Court to exercise its jurisdiction and use its scarce judicial resources to pronounce advisory standards on important legal issues given the total absence of factual development below. The First District's decision is based on a specific set of alleged facts, accepted for purposes of summary judgment, which may or may not prove accurate following discovery and a trial. Because the alleged facts are unsupported by record evidence at this point, this Court should dismiss the action, decline to issue an advisory opinion, and allow for the orderly development of ultimate facts at trial. *See State v. Schebel*, 723 So. 2d 830 (Fla. 1999).

Given that the types and degree of fraudulent conduct ultimately proved may differ from that alleged in the complaint, the prudential course for this Court is to allow the First District's ruling to stand and await full factual development prior to an appeal to this Court. Any pronouncement of legal principles at this point is necessarily an academic exercise given the need for a clearer demonstration of the facts and analysis of what remedy, if any, is appropriate for any proven fraudulent conduct. Discussion of legal principles that apply to the *alleged* facts will likely shed little light on how these principles will apply to whatever fraud *actually existed*. Moreover, the Court must have a factual basis for determining whether the proven fraud affected the constitutional requirements for placement of the proposed amendment on the ballot. In short, the appropriate legal principles and remedy cannot be established with certainty until the facts themselves are established with certainty.

As it stands, the First District's ruling only reversed an order granting summary judgment based on factual allegations deemed true. It did not decide the case, but merely allowed the trial court to make factual findings as to whether FLPF failed to meet the constitutionally mandated signature requirements. The certified questions, however, do not directly address this precise issue, instead they focus on the alleged fraud and its possible effects on the validation of signatures and the potential remedies. In the past, this Court has generally declined to review questions different than those passed upon by the district court. Pirelli Armstrong Tire Corp. v. Jensen, 777 So. 2d 973, 974 (Fla. 2001). Additionally, the alleged fraud here could turn out to be non-existent, or, conversely, far more pervasive than alleged. A rule fashioned by this Court at this time in response to the certified questions ultimately might not have any meaningful application to this case and might not assist in bringing it to final resolution.

Finally, this case involves potentially conflicting legal principles that do not lend themselves to full and meaningful resolution at this time. The long-standing principle that an election cures irregularities in the process and thereby promotes finality and administrative efficiency is a weighty one; similarly, the ability of citizens to amend the state constitution through the initiative process without fraud is extremely important. This Court should avoid making rulings affecting the application of these principles until the specific allegations of fraud are adjudicated. A fully-developed record with a set of proven facts will allow this Court to carefully consider and balance the competing legal principles; that cannot properly be done based on speculative, unproven factual allegations.

For all these reasons, the Court should dismiss this action due to review having been improvidently granted and remand for trial on the merits.

ARGUMENT¹

I. This Court Should Not Pass Upon The Certified Questions And, Instead, Should Dismiss This Action As Improvidently Granted.

Discretionary review of the two certified questions is unwarranted for a

number of prudential reasons, each of which is discussed below.

A. Discretionary review is unwarranted because the First District's decision is based entirely on allegations, presumed true for purposes of summary judgment only, that may prove to be inaccurate thereby making this Court's decision advisory in nature.

A compelling reason to decline review is that the First District's decision is based entirely on allegations that may ultimately prove to be inaccurate. Absent concrete facts, this Court will be basing its decision on unproven allegations and thereby be issuing what amounts to an advisory opinion.

In similar situations involving certified questions and speculative facts, this Court has had little hesitation to dismiss review as improvidently granted. For example, in *State v. Schebel*, 723 So. 2d 830 (Fla. 1999) this Court dismissed certified questions as improvidently granted because they were based on speculative, unproven facts. The Court stated: "Were we to base an opinion on the

¹ *Standard of Review:* Whether this Court should dismiss a case as improvidently granted is subject only to this Court's discretion. Art. V, § 3(b)(4), Fla. Const. (2007). The standard of review governing questions of law presented is *de novo*.

speculative facts [one party] alleges, our opinion would necessarily be advisory in nature." *Id.* at 830. This same result should apply here thereby sparing the Court from ruling in the abstract now on untested allegations versus ruling later on proven facts.

Moreover, it is a well-established judicial principle that, absent important reasons, this Court should not engage in the practice of issuing advisory opinions. *See id.* (declining jurisdiction because a decision on speculative facts "would necessarily be advisory in nature"). In short, this Court should decide that now is not the time to decide the questions presented, particularly when the alleged facts may never be proven.

B. Discretionary review is unwarranted because adjudication of the various types of fraud alleged is necessary to determine what remedy, if any, is appropriate.

The First District's decision did not finally decide the case; it merely allowed the case to proceed so that the various types of alleged fraud could be subject to discovery, trial, and an appropriate remedy, if any. *FAEG*, 945 So. 2d at 561 (reversing summary judgment without regard for "whether Appellants may be able to prove their assertions at trial"). Whether the alleged facts will ultimately be proven, and the different types of fraud demonstrated, is entirely uncertain. For this

Armstrong v. Harris, 773 So. 2d 7 (Fla. 2000).

reason, it is impossible for this Court to determine what remedy, if any, would ultimately be proper in this case making review at this juncture imprudent.

Notably, the allegations of fraud involve many types of conduct that, if ultimately proven, may be either innocuous or pernicious. Some of the allegations are that:

- FLPF "paid collectors committed fraud by forging signatures and fabricating names on a large number of the initiative petitions";
- many individuals "who were identified as signing a petition unequivocally stated they did not sign a petition for the Slots Initiative";
- some individuals were falsely told the nature of the proposed amendment and were tricked into signing a petition;
- some "signatories were deceased at the time they allegedly signed their petitions;" and
- thousands of petitions "were procured by fraud ... then used ... to deceive the various Supervisors of Elections, ... to create the illusion that it had obtained the constitutionally required number and geographic dispersal of signed petitions."

945 So. 2d at 557; [R1-84-89] Some of these allegations may be proven to be the result of intentional, consequential fraud; others may not. Indeed, signatures can be invalid for many reasons. They can be illegible or forged; they can be from unregistered electors or fictitious or deceased persons; they can be from persons

who claim not to have signed them or persons allegedly tricked into signing the petitions; and they can be copied from other petitions.

The allegation of invalid signatures from fictitious persons is a good example. *Id.* While a petition with a fictitious signature and address (*e.g.*, "George Washington, 1600 Pennsylvania Avenue") is invalid, it is not necessarily a result of a sponsor's fraud. Signature collectors are heavily dependent upon a signer's good faith. Through no fault or "fraud" on the part of collectors, some percentage of signatures collected will be invalid. Supervisors know this and take account of it in their review. Likewise initiative sponsors routinely plan for this contingency and collect more signatures than necessary knowing that some portion of signatures will fail verification.² For these reasons, allegations of fraud based on the presence of "fictitious," "illegible," or "defective" signatures may prove to be less the result of fraud by the petition's sponsors and more the result of inaccurate information provided by the signers themselves.

In contrast, the claim that the initiative would not have gained ballot access but for outright deception by sponsors submitting intentionally forged signatures

² See, e.g., Citizens Proposition for Tax Relief v. Firestone, 386 So. 2d 561, 567 (Fla. 1980) (cautioning that "verification is an element of ballot integrity and ... those who seek to place an initiative petition on the ballot are best advised to submit petitions for verifications sufficiently in advance of the last date for filing to afford an adequate time for proper verification of electors").

and fabricated names presents a different scenario. This type of willful misconduct by initiative sponsors bears directly on ballot integrity and, if proven, merits greater leeway for legal challenges and remedies.³ Because the facts will ultimately show varying degrees of fraud, negligence, or simple mistakes, it is entirely speculative at this juncture to know what remedy, if any, might ultimately be appropriate.

For this reason, the Court should not prematurely review or announce important legal principles based on the existing record. The alleged fraud may ultimately be proven to be more egregious in some respects, minor in other respects, or simply nonexistent. Until the factual "mix" of the types and degrees of alleged fraud are ultimately determined, the question of whether an election cures such deficiencies or whether an election should be overturned need not be answered.

³ See, e.g., Wadhams v. Bd. of County Comm'rs, 567 So. 2d 414, 418 (Fla. 1990) ("Deception of the voting public is intolerable and should not be countenanced."); *Beckstrom v. Volusia County Canvassing Bd.*, 707 So. 2d 720, 725 (Fla. 1998) (noting the "necessary distinction between an election contest with a judicial determination of fraud and ... [one with] substantial noncompliance with statutory election procedures, even if the noncompliance is determined to be the result of gross negligence"); *Boardman v. Esteva*, 323 So. 2d 259, 263 (Fla. 1975) ("Notably existent in this dispute is the complete absence of any allegation of fraud, gross negligence or even the hint of intentional wrongdoing, ... [If we countenance a result] contrary to the apparent will of the people, then we must do so on the basis that the sanctity of the ballot and the integrity of the election were not maintained").

C. Discretionary review is unwarranted because the certified questions are phrased differently from the actual questions the First District addressed thereby making this Court's review unnecessary and inadvisable.

The First District's actual decision and its certified questions are phrased differently thereby making this Court's review both unnecessary and inadvisable.

The First District's *decision* posed the ultimate question as whether on remand enough valid signatures could be shown irrespective of fraud; its *certified questions*, however, are based solely on issues of fraud. While alleged fraud and its implications were generally discussed below, the First District ultimately omits a reference to fraud in directing the trial court on remand to determine "whether [FLPF] failed to obtain the constitutionally required signatures for submission to the voters." 945 So. 2d at 562. If this failure occurred and no defense applies, the "trial court should declare the Slots Initiative invalid." *Id*.

In contrast, the certified questions present exclusively fraud-related issues. They do not directly address the ultimate question on remand set forth in the First District's decision. This difference is material as this Court generally will not review questions different than those passed upon by the district court. *Pirelli Armstrong Tire Corp. v. Jensen*, 777 So. 2d 973, 974 (Fla. 2001) ("[B]ecause in rendering its decision, the second district did not pass upon the question certified to this court, we are without jurisdiction to review this case."). Moreover, the certified questions are not of great public importance because they are unnecessary to resolve the case. *See State v. Sowell*, 734 So. 2d 421, 422 (Fla. 1999) ("After a more complete review of the certified question and decision of the First District, we conclude that the actual legal question deals with an extremely narrow principle of law, and, as phrased, does not present an issue of 'great public importance."").

Notably, even if this Court affirmatively answers the certified questions, the following questions will still exist:

- Must a pre-election challenge allege a *consequential* amount of fraud, *i.e.*, but for fraud, the initiative would not have been placed on the ballot?
- Could an election cure defects in *both* the total signature and dispersal requirements or only the total signature required (*i.e.*, because fraud as to the dispersal requirement may assist a populous region of the state to place an amendment on the ballot)?
- Should elections be overturned if *any* proven fraud exists, or only if the fraud directly causes the initiative's placement on the ballot?
- What if fraud is not proven, but the constitutional signature prerequisites ultimately are shown not to have been met?

Given that the alleged "fraud" may fall anywhere on a wide and legally-meaningful continuum, this Court should avoid formulating abstract answers to the certified questions in the absence of a more developed record.

D. Discretionary review is unwarranted based on other prudential considerations.

Finally, this Court should decline review of the certified questions for additional prudential reasons. First, by withholding disposition the Court will conserve judicial resources and spare itself from ruling on potentially conflicting legal principles that do not lend themselves to full and meaningful resolution at this time. The long-standing principle that an election cures irregularities in the process and thereby promotes finality and administrative efficiency is a weighty one; similarly, the citizens' ability to amend the state constitution through the initiative process without fraud is extremely important. This Court should avoid making potentially broad rulings affecting the application of these principles until the specific allegations of fraud are adjudicated.

Second, the "decision not to decide" is prudent here because it provides an opportunity for the legislative branch to address statutory reforms in light of whatever facts are demonstrated at trial. An advisory opinion addressing legal issues that may be deemed moot following trial would detract from, rather than enhance, the possibility of a legislative response. *See Missouri, K. & T. R. Co. v. May*, 194 U.S. 267, 270 (1904) (Holmes, J.) ("Great constitutional provisions must be administered with caution. Some play must be allowed for the joints of the

machine, and it must be remembered that legislatures are ultimate guardians of the liberties and welfare of the people in quite as great a degree as the courts.").

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